IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CALVIN ELAM,

Appellant,

Docket No. 85421

Electronically Filed Mar 27 2023 06:04 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v. STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Monique McNeill, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 9862 P.O. Box 2451 Las Vegas, Nevada 89125 Phone: (702) 497-9734 Email: Monique.mcneill@yahoo.com **Attorney for Appellant Elam**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CALVIN ELAM,

Appellant,

Docket No. 85421

v. STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons

and entries as described in NRAP 26.1(a), and must be disclosed. These

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A. Basis for Supreme Court's or Court of Appeal's Jurisdiction:

This appeal is from a denial of a petition for writ of habeas corpus, and appellate jurisdiction in this case derives from NRS 177.015(3).

B. The Filing Dates Establishing the Timeliness of the Appeal:

C. Order Denying Petition Filed:	7/12/2022
D. Notice of Appeal Filed:	8/4/2022

E. Assertion that Appeal is From a Final Order or Judgment:

This Appeal is from a denial of a post-conviction writ of habeas corpus, and thus this Court has jurisdiction.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Appellant was convicted of a category B felony. Therefore, pursuant to NRAP (17)(b)(3), this appeal presumptively is routed to the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN DENYING THE PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The following facts are from the Supplemental Petition, found at Appellant's Appendix, ("AA"), pp. 1165-1166. Defendant was charged by Grand Jury Indictment on April 17, 2015, with eight (8) felony charges including sexual assault with a deadly weapon, first degree kidnapping with a deadly weapon, attempt sexual assault with a deadly weapon, assault with a deadly weapon, conspiracy to commit kidnapping, unlawful use of an electronic stun device, battery with intent to commit sexual assault and ownership of a firearm by a prohibited person. Defendant entered a not guilty plea on April 28, 2015. On June 18, 2015, the trial was agreed to be continued until January 25, 2016. Trial however did not begin until June 19, 2017. On June 27, 2017, the jury returned a verdict finding Defendant guilty of four (4) counts including Count 1, conspiracy to commit kidnapping; Count 2, first degree kidnapping with use of a deadly weapon; Count 3, assault with a deadly weapon and Count 5, battery with intent to commit sexual assault. Defendant was found not guilty on four (4) counts: Count 4, unlawful use

of stun device and Count 6, sexual assault with use of deadly weapon, and Count 7, attempt assault with use of deadly weapon.

Defendant was sentenced on October 19, 2017, to an aggregate sentence of 13 years to life imprisonment. Judgment of Conviction was filed on October 31, 2017. On November 13, 2017, Defendant filed Notice of Appeal. On April 12, 2019, the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Order of Affirmance, in case number 74581, affirming Defendant's conviction. Remittitur issued May 7, 2019. On May 15, 2019, defense counsel Thomas Erickson filed a Motion to Withdraw. That motion was granted on May 28, 2019.

On May 27, 2020, Defendant filed a *Pro Per* Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. On July 6, 2020, the State filed their response to the Petition. On August 18, 2020, the Court granted Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Judgment on the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, thereby allowing Defendant until October 20, 2020, to file a supplemental petition. On August 18, 2020, the Court denied Defendant's Motion for Appointment of Counsel *without* prejudice, stating however if the issues were unduly complex counsel would then be appointed. Defendant acting *pro per* could not file Supplementary Points and Authorities by the October 20, 2020 date and on January 19, 2021, the Court denied the Petition. Defendant then appealed the Order denying his Post Conviction Petition, filing a *Pro Per* Notice of Appeal on February 26, 2021.

On February 17, 2022, the Supreme Court reversed the District Court's denial of Defendant's Petition and remanded to District Court for appointment of counsel in case number 82637. Counsel Terrence M. Jackson, Esq. was appointed on March 10, 2022 to represent Calvin Thomas Elam on further post conviction proceedings On June 9, 2022, Defendant through counsel filed Supplemental Points and Authorities to his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in case number A-20-815585-W. AA1163. AA1163.

The supplemental petition alleged that trial counsel was ineffective: Pretrial:

A. failing to do sufficient investigation, or retain experts;

B. failing to file meritorious motions, including a motion to suppress and a motion to challenge the deadly weapon enhancement.

At trial:

A. during jury selection;

B. failing to retain a jury consultant;

C. for not seeking sequestered voir dire;

D. by not objecting to prosecutorial misconduct;

E. During closing argument. AA1166-1171.

Further, the petition alleged that counsel's ineffectiveness led to a conviction on multiple counts despite the State not proving the charges and led to a lengthy and overly harsh sentence. AA1166. The petition also alleged that appellate counsel was ineffective. AA1167.

The State's response was that the petition was time barred, as Elam failed to file his petition within the one year time frame. AA1198. The Petition, per the State, was due May 7, 2020, but the *pro per* petition was filed May 27, 2020. AA1198. The State also responded that Elam failed to overcome the procedural bar as he did not establish the existence of an impediment to the deadline to his filing. AA1199. Further, the State argued that Elam did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel. AA1200-1201.

The district court ruled on the merits of the petition, and did not summarily deny it as time barred. AA1233. The court found that trial counsel was not ineffective. AA1233. Specifically, the court found that challenging the deadly weapon enhancement would have been futile, as the legislature amended the statute. AA1234. Additionally, the court stated that there is no requirement that trial counsel retain a jury consultant, nor was counsel ineffective for failing to seek sequestered voir dire, and that counsel appeared to have properly handled voir dire. AA1234.

The court also noted that counsel made a closing argument, and the cases cited were cases where counsel did not make a closing argument. AA1235. Finally, the court held that counsel was not ineffective at sentencing, and that

appellate counsel was not ineffective. AA1235. The court noted it was denying the petition on the grounds set forth in the State's response, and the State incorporated the response into the Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law, and Order. AA1233.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following evidence was presented at Elam's trial: **Arrie Webster**: testified that around 11 am or 12 pm on March 10, 2015, she visited her friends Annie and Pamela, who live in apartments very near to Elam. AA0559 and AA0557. Ms. Webster testified that she saw Elam, and she said, "What's up?" And Elam motioned for her to come over to his apartment. AA0560. Elam was standing outside his apartment at the time. *Id*. She further testified that she had previously been to Elam's apartment prior to the day of the alleged criminal activity (AA0563) and that she would refer to Elam as "Cuz" or "cousin" because Elam had children with Ms. Webster's cousin by marriage, Joanique Mack. AA0565-66.

On the day of the incident, Ms. Webster wanted to explain to Elam that she did not have anything to do with the disappearance of two dogs Elam had been missing from a few days earlier. AA0567-68 and AA0569. She testified that when she got to his apartment, Elam was in the apartment, and she walked into the kitchen, and Elam accused her of being involved with the disappearance of his

dogs. AA0570. She said that he became loud and aggressive and he told her to turn around and get on her knees. AA0571. She testified that Elam tied her up with "electrical cords and tape, and stuffed my mouth with – with fabric and covered my eyes up, and then finished it with a pillow case." AA0572. She alleged that her "arms were tied behind my back connected to my feet." *Id*.

The prosecutor then prompted Ms. Webster by asking:

Q: You said that he had put stuff in your mouth and tape around you.
Before he did that, did he do something else?
A: I mean, before he did that he –
Q: Did he put something else in your mouth?
A: At what particular time? I mean, the –
Q: You tell me.
A: Okay. Yes, he did, and it was – it was the gun.
AA0573.

She testified that Elam then called another male, and two or three women to come

over to his apartment. AA0575.

Further, she testified that after the other people arrived, they began videotaping the

assault on Ms. Webster. Elam beat her with a belt and tased her with a taser.

AA0578. Elam was the only one who struck her with a belt, the only one who used

a taser on her, and the only one who assaulted her with a broomstick. AA0578-79

and AA0581.Her shorts and underwear were pulled down and she was beaten with

a belt on her bare skin. AA0584.She was threatened with a broomstick and that she

"was exhausted" and blanked out when she thought she might be assaulted with the

broomstick. AA0580-81. She was tied up and assaulted for "at least a couple of hours." AA0581.

She testified that she thought she might be assaulted with the broomstick, but she didn't know if she was because "she passed out" and she doesn't remember. AA0583. She escaped the apartment when she no longer could hear anyone in the apartment. AA0586.

On cross-examination, Ms. Webster testified that on the day of the alleged incident she filled out a handwritten voluntary statement, and acknowledged after reviewing her voluntary statement that she did not mention anything about being threatened with a gun, having a gun placed in her mouth, or being threatened with a broomstick. AA0613.

She remembered being interviewed by Detective Nelson. AA0616. She told Det. Nelson, when talking about the alleged use of a broomstick, "He – they didn't put no penetration. . .. But they, like, act like they wanted to do it. You know, I thought they were going to do it." AA0621, ll. 4-20. She also told Det. Nelson, when he asked if the suspects had sexually assaulted her, "No, but I just thought they would." AA0626-27.

She told Det. Nelson that the paramedics "saw marks on [her] rear end from being whipped with a belt" (AA0622) and that she was hit with a belt "over 25 times." AA0623. She told Det. Nelson that she thought she had been tased "six or

seven times" (AA0624) on "my legs, back of my neck, my back." AA0626, ll. 2-4. She further testified that she told Det. Nelson that it was the other alleged male suspect who threatened her with a broomstick, rather than Elam. AA0624, ll. 13-18.

She was examined by a UMC nurse on March 12, 2015 (two days after the alleged incident). Detective Ryland then questioned her about the allegations.

Bradley Grover: He is a senior crime scene analyst with LVMPD. AA0672. He was asked to take photographs of the alleged victim on the March 10, 2015, the date of the alleged incident. AA0705. He believed he was made aware that Ms. Webster alleged she had been beaten by a belt. He was not asked to take "photographs attempting to document any injury from the beating." AA0707. He did not recall being asked to try to take photos related to any tasing injuries on Ms. Webster. AA0707.

Theodore Weirach: He interviewed Appellant Elam during the investigation. At the time of the interview, Elam was at the LVMPD headquarters building in an interview room and handcuffed and chained to a bar attached to the table in the interview room. AA0715-16.

Mr. Weirach read Elam a *Miranda* warning from a LVMPD issued card that had been updated by the time Mr. Weirach was testifying at the trial. Mr. Weirach testified he read the warning to Elam from the old card he had been issued. He

testified he believed that the change between the old card read to Elam and the new card Mr. Weirach had with him at the trial was that the new card added the language "you have the right to consult with an attorney before questioning." AA0718, ll. 17-25. Mr. Weirach testified that he did would not have given that warning to Elam at the time he was questioned as Mr. Weirach "would've read it just verbatim off the card of the day." AA0719, ll. 1-2.

Detective Weirach testified that his updated *Miranda* card read as follows on the day he testified at trial:

You have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can be used against you in a court of law. You have the right to consult with an attorney before questioning. You have the right to the presence of an attorney during questioning. If you cannot afford an attorney, one will be appointed to you before questioning. Do you understand these rights?

The trial judge refused to suppress the statement Elam gave to the police. AA0719.

Heather Gouldthorpe: is a forensic scientist in the latent print unit in the LVMPD

forensic laboratory. AA0760. She was not able to recover any latent fingerprints

that could be compared with any known samples. AA0075-76.

Jeri Dermanelian: is a sexual assault nurse examiner. AA0818. She performed an

examination of Arrie Webster on March 12, 2015, at the University Medical

Center in Las Vegas, Nevada. AA0827. Ms. Dermanelian personally interviewed

Ms. Webster. AA0861. In the "history of the event," Ms. Dermanelian reported

that Ms. Webster stated the male "forced penis, finger, and tongue to her vagina." AA0862, ll., 3-6.

Ms. Dermanelian asked Ms. Webster, "Was there oral penetration with a penis or other object?" Ms. Webster answered, No. AA0862, ll. 7-12. Ms. Dermanelian checked the boxes on the interview sheet indicating that the alleged victim reported that she was vaginally penetrated by a penis, by a finger, by a tongue, and "possible broomstick." AA0862-63.

Ms. Dermanelian did a visual inspection of Ms. Webster's body. When asked, "Did you observe any marks on her rear end that would indication to you a possible beating with a belt?" Ms. Dermanelian replied, "No. She had no bruises or contusions or lacerations . . . on her buttocks." AA0863, ll. 20-24. Ms. Dermanelian used a special light tool in examining Ms. Webster for injuries and still did not see any injuries to Ms. Webster's vaginal area, rectal area, or rear end. AA.0864. Ms. Dermanelian did a "head to toe" examination and "did not see any signs of injuries that would have been caused by a Taser." AA0868, ll. 2-7. Ms. Webster declined to give a urine sample during the examination. AA0866. **Detective Jesse Ryland:** is a LVMPD detective with the sexual assault section. She interviewed Ms. Webster, with another female detective, on March 13, 2015 [three days after the alleged incident]. AA0895. Ms. Webster told her that Ms. Webster "smoked spice and methamphetamine" and, on the day of the interview,

Ms. Webster estimated that she had used methamphetamine "four to five days earlier". AA0897.

Detective Jason Nelson: is a LVMPD detective. He interviewed Ms. Webster on the day of the alleged incident. At the trial, he reviewed the AMR report from the medical examination conducted by AMR personnel on the day of the alleged incident. AA1004. He testified that the AMR report did not identify injuries consistent with a beating with a belt or tasing with a stun gun. AA1005.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court abused its discretion in denying the petition for writ of habeas corpus, post conviction.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN

DENYING THE PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS.

Standard of Review: This Court reviews the denial of a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus for an abuse of discretion. *Nobles v. Warden*, Nevada Dept. of Prisons, 106 Nev. 67, 787 P.2d 390 (1990).

A. <u>The District Court erred in finding that appellate counsel was not</u> <u>ineffective for failing to litigate the conviction for first degree</u> <u>kidnapping</u>

Elam alleged that appellate counsel should have litigated the conviction for first degree kidnapping. AA1275. The district court found that this was not

ineffective as there was "substantial evidence" of the kidnapping and it would have been futile for counsel to raise the issue. AA1276.

To sustain convictions for both kidnapping and another offense arising! out of the same course of conduct, the movement or restraint involved in the kidnapping must have independent significance apart from the other offense, create a substantially greater risk of danger, or involve movement that substantially exceeds that necessary to complete the other offense. *See Mendoza v. State*, 122 Nev. 267, 275, 130 P.3d 176, 181 (2006).

Generally, "movement or restraint incidental to an underlying offense where restraint or movement is inherent" will not expose a defendant to criminal liability for kidnapping. *Mendoza*, at 267. But when the movement or restraint "substantially increase[s] the risk of harm to the victim over and above that necessarily present in an associated offense . . . or where the seizure, restraint or movement of the victim substantially exceeds that required to complete the associated crime charged," a kidnapping charge can stand. Id. at 274-75, 130 P.3d at 180. Whether, the movement was incidental or substantially increased the risk of harm are questions generally left for a jury "in all but the clearest of cases." *Guerrina v. State*, 134 Nev. ____, 419 P.3d 705, 710 (2018) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The State charged Elam with first degree kidnapping, alleging that the seizing, confining, inveigling, enticing, etc. was done for the purpose of committing substantial bodily harm and/or for the purpose of committing a sexual assault and/or to kill Webster. AA00002.

Webster testified that on the day of the alleged incident, she was visiting friends, and saw Elam. AA559, 560. Elam, who referred to as "Cuz," motioned for her to come over to where he was. AA560. Webster went over because she wanted to speak to him about some puppies that Elam owned which were missing. AA567. Webster wanted to tell Elam "she did not have anything to do" with the dogs being missing. AA569. According to Webster's statement to the police, Elam invited her over, and she went, testifying at trial that she was "eager to go" because she wanted to explain about the puppies. AA616.

Webster went into Elam's apartment, and when she informed Elam she did not have anything to do with the puppies, he got angry and did not believe her. AA570. Elam then told her to get on her knees. AA571.

After she got on her knees, Elam tied her with electrical cords and tape, and stuffed her mouth with fabric, and covered her eyes. AA572. At some point after that, Elam put a shotgun in her mouth. AA574. Elam beat her with a belt, pulled her pants down, angled a broomstick at her anus. AA575. Elam made a phone call and three women and an man came in the door of the

apartment. AA575. Elam's girlfriend was in the apartment and saw Webster hogtied at one point. AA570. Webster was able to leave the apartment, and some people in the parking lot helped untie her. AA586.

Here, this restraint is not above and beyond that required to inflict a beating, a murder, or sexual assault. To effectuate any of those crimes, one would have to restrain the victim. The restraint did not subject her to any more risk than she was already at, because if you accept her version as true, Elam had every intention of beating her and exacting revenge for what he perceived as her role in the theft of his puppies. It is unclear how this restraint subjected Webster to any risk above and beyond the harm inherent in a beating, sexual assault or murder. Appellate counsel should have appealed this verdict, and such appeal would have saved Elam a conviction on a category A felony. Elam faced prejudice because counsel failed to litigate such a clear cut issue in the appeal.

The district court erred in finding that appellate counsel was not ineffective for not raising that issue.

B. <u>The district court erred in finding that trial counsel was not ineffective</u> for failing to object to a misstatement of the law by the prosecutor

Elam alleged that trial counsel should have objected to the prosecutor's misstatement of the law regarding an unarmed offender. The district court found that what the prosecutor said was not a misstatement of the law, and such alleged mistake would not have prejudiced Elam. AA1269.

The district court erred. In the prosecutor's closing argument, she stated that the unarmed offender is liable for the use of a deadly weapon used by someone else. AA1031. The prosecutor made this statement when discussing the instruction on the unarmed offender. The statement made leaves out the fact that the unarmed offender must have knowledge of the use of the weapon. AA1214. While the instruction to the jury was correct, the prosecutor's explanation was not. Because an attorney never knows what information a juror will seize on, it is crucial that the jury is always properly instructed. The prosecutor left out a key element of the unarmed offender's liability. Counsel should have objected as this was a clear misstatement of the law.

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