#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CALVIN ELAM,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Apr 26 2023 09:27 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 85421

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### Appeal From Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MONIQUE MCNEILL, ESQ. Nevada Bar #009862 P.O. Box 2451 Las Vegas, Nevada 89125 (702) 497-9734 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's petition for writ of habeas corpus, post-conviction. Appellant's petition was procedurally barred without evidence of good cause. Appellant has shown insufficient prejudice to ignore his procedural default. Pursuant to <u>Mendoza v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 267, 275, 130 P.3d 176, 181 (2006), Appellant's actions fall within the purview first-degree kidnapping, assault with a deadly weapon, and battery with intent to commit sexual assault. Further, the prosecutor did not misstate the law in closing argument. Finally, Appellant has not asserted any specific factual allegations which would entitle him to relief. As such, there was no need for an evidentiary hearing.

#### **ARGUMENT**

This Court reviews a district court's application of the law de novo, and gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters. <u>State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013). This Court reviews a district court's denial of a habeas petition for abuse of discretion. <u>Rubio v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1032, 1047, 194 P.3d 1224, 1234 (2008). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001). This Court must give deference to the factual findings made by the district court if they are supported by the record. <u>Little v. Warden</u>, 117 Nev. 845, 854, 34 Pd. 3d 540, 546 (2001).

# I. THE PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS WAS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Initially, Appellant has failed to address the procedurally barred nature of his habeas petition in his Opening Brief. His failure to do so amounts to an admission that the decision below was correct. <u>See, Polk v. State</u>, 126 Nev. 180, 184-86, 233 P.3d 357, 360-61 (2010) (finding confessed error by failing to address a material

issue); <u>Maresca v. State</u>, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) ("It is Appellant's responsibility to present relevant authority and cogent argument; issues not so presented need not be addressed by this court."). Further, Appellant should be barred from addressing good cause in any reply since to do so would allow him to short circuit the adversarial process by denying Respondent any opportunity to respond. This Court should not tolerate such litigation practices. <u>See, Righetti v.</u> <u>Eighth Judicial District Court</u>, 133 Nev. 42, 47, 388 P.3d 643, 648 (2017) (declining to adopt a rule in a capital case that "rewards and thus incentivizes less than forthright advocacy").

#### A. Application of Procedural Bars is Mandatory

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that courts have a duty to consider whether a defendant's post-conviction petition claims are procedurally barred. <u>State</u> <u>v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Riker)</u>, 121 Nev. 225, 231, 112 P.3d 1070, 1074 (2005). The <u>Riker</u> Court found that "[a]pplication of the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory," noting:

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final.

<u>Id</u>. Additionally, the Court noted that procedural bars "cannot be ignored [by the District Court] when properly raised by the State." <u>Id</u>. at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075. Ignoring the procedural bars is an arbitrary and unreasonable exercise of discretion.

<u>Id</u>. at 234, 112 P.3d at 1076. The Nevada Supreme Court has granted no discretion to District Courts regarding whether to apply the statutory procedural bars; the rules must be applied.

This position was reaffirmed in <u>State v. Greene</u>, 129 Nev. 559, 307 P.3d 322 (2013). There the Court ruled that the defendant's petition was "untimely, successive, and an abuse of the writ" and that the defendant failed to show good cause and actual prejudice. <u>Id</u>. at 324, 307 P.3d at 326. Accordingly, the Court reversed and ordered the defendant's petition dismissed pursuant to the procedural bars. <u>Id</u>. at 324, 307 P.3d at 322–23. The procedural bars are so fundamental to the post-conviction process that they must be applied even if not raised by the State. <u>See Riker</u>, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074. Parties cannot stipulate to waive the procedural default rules. <u>State v. Haberstroh</u>, 119 Nev. 173, 180-81, 69 P.3d 676, 681-82 (2003).

#### **B.** Appellant's Petition is Time-Barred

Petitioner's Petition is time-barred pursuant to NRS 34.726(1):

Unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year of the entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur. For the purposes of this subsection, good cause for delay exists if the petitioner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court:

(a) That the delay is not the fault of the petitioner; and

(b) That dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly prejudice the petitioner.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that NRS 34.726 should be construed by its plain meaning. <u>Pellegrini v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 873–74, 34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001). Per the language of the statute, the statutory one-year time bar begins to run from the filing date of a judgment of conviction or remittitur from a timely direct appeal. <u>Dickerson v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133–34 (1998).

The one-year time limit for preparing petitions for post-conviction relief under NRS 34.726 is strictly applied. In <u>Gonzales v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 590, 596, 53 P.3d 901, 904 (2002), the Nevada Supreme Court rejected a habeas petition that was filed two (2) days late despite evidence presented by the defendant that he purchased postage through the prison and mailed the petition within the one-year time limit.

Remittitur issued from Appellant's direct appeal on May 7, 2019. 5 AA 1241. Therefore, Appellant had until May 7, 2020, to file a timely habeas petition. Appellant filed his Petition on May 27, 2020, in excess of the one-year deadline. <u>Id</u>. Accordingly, the district court denied Appellant's Petition as time barred. 5 AA 1246.

# II. APPELLANT FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE GOOD CAUSE TO IGNORE HIS PROCEDURAL DEFAULT.

To avoid procedural default, a defendant has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate good cause for his failure to present his claim in earlier proceedings or to otherwise comply with the statutory requirements, and that he will be unduly Prejudiced if the petition is dismissed. NRS 34.726(1)(a); <u>see</u> <u>Hogan v. Warden</u>, 109 Nev. 952, 959–60, 860 P.2d 710, 715–16 (1993); <u>Phelps v.</u> <u>Nevada Dep't of Prisons</u>, 104 Nev. 656, 659, 764 P.2d 1303, 1305 (1988). "A court must dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner." <u>Evans</u>, 117 Nev. at 646–47, 29 P.3d at 523 (emphasis added).

"To establish good cause, petitioners must show that an impediment external to the defense prevented their compliance with the applicable procedural rule." <u>Clem</u> <u>v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003) (emphasis added); <u>see</u> <u>Hathaway v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 248, 251, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003); <u>Pellegrini</u>, 117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537. "A qualifying impediment might be shown where the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available at the time of default." <u>Clem</u> <u>v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003). The Court continued, "petitioners cannot attempt to manufacture good cause[.]" <u>Id</u>. at 621, 81 P.3d at 526. Examples of good cause include interference by state officials and the previous unavailability of a legal or factual basis. <u>See State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. 192, 198 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012). Clearly, any delay in the filing of the petition must not be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a).

Additionally, "bare" and "naked" allegations are not sufficient to warrant post-conviction relief, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. <u>Hargrove v.</u> <u>State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). A petitioner for post-conviction relief cannot rely on conclusory claims for relief but must make specific factual allegations that if true would entitle him to relief. <u>Colwell v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 807, 59 P.3d 463 (2002) (citing <u>Evans v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 609, 621, 28 P.3d 498, 507 (2001)).

The District Court found Appellant failed to establish the existence of an impediment external to the defense that prevented him from bringing these claims in accordance with the mandatory deadline. 5 AA 1247. Further, all facts and law necessary were available for Appellant to bring these claims in a timely habeas Petition. <u>Id</u>. Thus, Appellant's claims are procedurally barred.

#### III. APPELLANT FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE PREJUDICE SUFFICIENT TO IGNORE HIS PROCEDURAL DEFAULTS.

To establish prejudice, the defendant must show "'not merely that the errors of [the proceedings] created possibility of prejudice, but that they worked to his actual and substantial disadvantage, in affecting the state proceedings with error of constitutional dimensions." <u>Hogan v. Warden</u>, 109 Nev. 952, 960, 860 P.2d 710, 716 (1993) (quoting <u>United States v. Frady</u>, 456 U.S. 152, 170, 102 S. Ct. 1584, 1596 (1982)). To find good cause there must be a "substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse." <u>Hathaway v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (quoting <u>Colley v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989)).

Clearly, any delay in the filing of the petition must not be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a).

As discussed *infra*, Appellant's underlying complaints are meritless. Thus, Appellant is unable to establish the requisite prejudice to ignore his procedural default.

#### A. The District Court did not err in holding Appellant Counsel was not ineffective.

Appellant complains the District Court erred in finding that appellate counsel was not ineffective for failing to properly litigate his conviction for first degree kidnapping. AOB at 11-14.

There is a strong presumption that appellate counsel's performance was reasonable and fell within "the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." See United States v. Aguirre, 912 F.2d 555, 560 (2nd Cir. 1990); citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,688, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed. 2d 674 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has held that there is a constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel in a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction. Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 396-97, 105 S. Ct. 830, 835-37 (1985); see also Burke v. State, 110 Nev. 1366, 1368, 887 P.2d 267, 268 (1994). The Nevada Supreme Court has held that all appeals must be "pursued in a manner meeting high standards of diligence, professionalism and competence." Burke, 110 Nev. at 1368, 887 P.2d at 268.

A claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel must satisfy the twoprong test set forth by <u>Strickland</u>. <u>Kirksey v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 980, 998, 923 P.2d 1102, 1114 (1996). To satisfy Strickland's second prong, the defendant must show the omitted issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal. <u>Duhamel v. Collins</u>, 955 F.2d 962, 967 (5th Cir. 1992); <u>Heath</u>, 941 F.2d at 1132; <u>Lara v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 177, 184, 87 P.3d 528, 532 (2004); <u>Kirksey</u>, 112 Nev. at 498, 923 P.2d at 1114.

Appellate counsel is not required to raise every issue that a defendant felt was pertinent to the case. The professional diligence and competence required on appeal involves "winnowing out weaker arguments on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most on a few key issues." Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751-52, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 3313 (1983). In particular, a "brief that raises every colorable issue runs the risk of burying good arguments . . . in a verbal mound made up of strong and weak contentions." Id. at 753, 103 S. Ct. at 3313. For judges to second-guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on appointed counsel a duty to raise every 'colorable' claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy." Id. at 754, 103 S. Ct. at 3314. The Nevada Supreme Court has similarly concluded that appellate counsel may well be more effective by not raising every conceivable issue on appeal. Ford, 105 Nev. at 853, 784 P.2d at 953. The defendant has the ultimate authority to make fundamental

decisions regarding his case. Jones, 463 U.S. at 751, 103 S. Ct. at 3312. However, the defendant does not have a constitutional right to "compel appointed counsel to press nonfrivolous points requested by the client, if counsel, as a matter of professional judgment, decides not to present those points." <u>Id</u>.

Initially, Appellant's complaint that direct appeal counsel was remiss for not challenging his kidnapping conviction based on Mendoza is waived as it was never raised below. Appellant's pleadings below did not argue Mendoza in any way. 5 AA 1077-1100, 1163-91. Instead, he complained that direct appeal counsel should have argued that the kidnapping conviction failed to meet the beyond a reasonable doubt standard and thus was supported by insufficient evidence. 5 AA 1182-87. Appellant's failure to raise this issue below precludes appellate review. Davis v. State, 107 Nev. 600, 606, 817 P.2d 1169, 1173 (1991), overruled on other grounds, Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012-13, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004) ("This ground for relief was not part of appellant's original petition for post-conviction relief and was not considered in the district court's order denying that petition. Hence, it need not be considered by this court."). Appellant's failure to raise this argument in the lower court waives all but plain error. Martinorellan v. State, 131 Nev. 43, 48, 343 P.3d 590, 593 (2015); Maestas v. State, 128 Nev. 128, 146, 275 P.3d 74, 89 (2012); Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003); Patterson v. State, 111 Nev.

15

#### 123, 130 (1995). Plain error review asks:

"To amount to plain error, the 'error must be so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual inspection of the record."" <u>Vega v. State</u>, 126 Nev. ----, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (2010) (quoting <u>Nelson</u>, 123 Nev. at 543, 170 P.3d at 524). In addition, "the defendant [must] demonstrate [] that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003))). Thus, reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights.

Martinorellan, 131 Nev. at 49, 343 P.3d at 593.

Appellant complains appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to argue that his conviction of first degree kidnapping did not have independent significance apart from his other offenses, created a substantially greater risk of danger, or involved movement that substantially exceeded that necessary to complete the other offense pursuant to <u>Mendoza</u>. AOB at 11-14. Appellant further contends that "[w]hether, the movement was incidental or substantially increased the risk of harm are questions generally left for a jury in all but the clearest of cases, pursuant to <u>Guerrina v. State</u>, 134 Nev.\_\_,\_\_,419 P.3d 705, 710 (2018)." AOB at 12. (internal quotation marks omitted).

Appellate counsel was not ineffective for not challenging Appellant's conviction for first-degree kidnapping because counsel is not required to raise futile

arguments. <u>Ennis v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 694, 705, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006). Appellant's convictions are: 1) First Degree Kidnapping with use of a Deadly Weapon; 2) Assault with a Deadly Weapon; and 3) Battery with Intent to Commit Sexual Assault. 5 AA 1240 - 41.

Kidnapping is defined as:

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